1996

Jerome K. Duncan v. Eileen M. Howard; Sandra Thorderson, and Lary Thorderson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This is an appeal as of right from a final award of custody in a civil district court case. Jurisdiction is conferred on this court by Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(i) (Supp. 1995). The Paternity Order appealed from was entered February 8, 1995. (R. 427-28.) The Thordersons' notice of appeal (R. 436) was filed March 6, 1995, within 30 days of the order appealed from, and was thus timely. Utah R. App. P. 4(a). Eileen Howard's notice of appeal (R. 444) was filed March 17, 1995,¹ within 14 days after the Thordersons' notice of appeal, and was thus timely. Utah R. App. P. 4(d).

¹The filing stamp on the notice of appeal erroneously indicates the document was filed March 20, 1995. By order entered May 12, 1995, the trial court decreed that the notice was actually filed March 17, 1995. (R. 489.)

ISSUES PRESENTED

Eileen Howard adopts all the issues and supporting arguments made by Thordersons. She also presents the following additional issues:

1. Did the trial court err in holding that Hutchison v. Hutchison, 649 P.2d 38 (Utah 1982), required a change of custody after five years with the mother and maternal grandparents, notwithstanding compelling evidence that the best interests of the child would be served only by maintaining the existing custody arrangement? This is a legal issue and is reviewed for correctness. Ferris v. Jennings, 595 P.2d 857, 859 (Utah 1979). Howard is not aware of any requirement that this issue be raised below, but the issue was raised, prior to entry of final judgment, in Thordersons Motion for Reconsideration. (R. 396-98.)

2. Did the trial court exercise its discretion based on a misunderstanding of the law, and thereby abuse its discretion, by holding that it lacked authority to enforce an order of custody to Eileen Howard contingent on her living with the Thordersons, and therefore refusing to consider any award of custody to Eileen Howard? This court should review de novo the legal question of whether the trial court exercised its discretion based on a correct understanding of the law. Ferris v. Jennings, 595 P.2d 857, 859 (Utah 1979); Gaw v. State, 798 P.2d 1130, 1134 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). The underlying custody award is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Hutchison v. Hutchison, 649 P.2d 38, 41 (Utah 1982).

Howard advanced this argument at the beginning of trial and in closing arguments. (R. 526-27, 1101.)

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS

Howard is not aware of any statutes or rules whose interpretation is determinative of the issues raised.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case. This is a civil paternity action. The only disputed issue at trial was custody of the minor child, Clel Howard.

B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below. Jerry Duncan, the natural father, filed his paternity action September 18, 1991, alleging that the mother, Eileen Howard, should be awarded custody but that Duncan should receive visitation rights. (R. 2-6.) Howard initially disputed Duncan's paternity (R. 27-29), but abandoned that defense following blood tests.

On February 2, 1993, Duncan filed a motion seeking an order directing Howard to show cause why Duncan should not be granted temporary custody. (R. 53.) The court issued the order to show cause. (R. 56-57.) The affidavit (R. 50-52) supporting the motion claimed that Clel was then in Pennsylvania with Howard and his maternal grandmother, Sandra Thorderson, and that Mrs. Thorderson would not allow Clel to return to Utah with Howard. Duncan further claimed that although he wanted to be with his son, he "would never interfere with [Howard]'s right to be with him as well." (R. 51.)

Thordersons had previously filed a petition in Pennsylvania seeking custody of Clel. In a telephone conference call between the Pennsylvania judge, the Utah domestic relations commissioner, and counsel for the parties, the courts decided that Utah would retain jurisdiction over the matter. (R. 58, 64.) Sandra Thorderson then joined the Utah action as a defendant. (R. 95.)

The order to show cause was heard before the domestic relations commissioner on June 17, 1993 (R. 100), and resulted in a recommendation that Clel remain with the Thordersons pending final resolution of the action, but that he travel to Utah for one month visitation with Duncan and one month with Howard. (R. 101-05.) Howard and Mrs. Thorderson both objected to the recommendation (R. 106-08, 113-50), but the district court sustained the recommendation. (R. 153, 154.)

Sandra Thorderson's husband, Larry Thorderson, joined as a defendant (R. 188-89), and the Thordersons filed a petition for custody. (R. 180-87.) Howard responded to the petition. (R. 151-53.) Duncan did not answer the petition or ever formally amend his petition to seek custody. Duncan did file a motion seeking temporary custody of Clel (R. 191), but that motion was denied. (R. 254.)

The case was tried before the Honorable John A. Rokich on September 28-30, 1994. (R. 338-40.) On December 5, 1994, the court entered a Memorandum Decision holding that Duncan should be awarded custody. (R. 386-94.) Finding of Fact and Conclusions of

Law (R. 429-34) and a Paternity Order (R. 427-28) were entered February 8, 1995.

C. Statement of Facts².

Eileen Howard and Jerry Duncan lived together in Cedar City, Utah, for four or five months starting in the fall of 1987, while they were working together at Brian Head ski resort. (R. 591-92.) Duncan had been married twice³ before, and had two children from his first marriage. (R. 649-50.) Duncan moved to seek other employment, and the parties split up. (R. 592-93.) Clel James Howard was born to Eileen Howard on October 12, 1988. (R. 2, 27.) At that time, Howard was living with her mother and stepfather, Sandra and Larry Thorderson, in Salt Lake City, Utah. Howard nursed and cared for Clel, with some assistance from Mrs. Thorderson, for approximately nine months. (R. 1068.) With Mrs.

²The discussion of facts below is not intended to be comprehensive, but to only present a general overview of the facts important to Howard's argument. In particular, there are several statements in the trial court's Findings of Fact which are not supported by the evidence. For example, the findings state that Duncan has two adult children from a prior marriage. (R. 430 ¶ 7.) In fact, the record indicates the children were three and four years old at the time of Duncan's divorce in 1984, and they would therefore still be minors. (R. 652, 664.) Paragraph 14 of the Findings (R. 431) asserts that Howard abandoned Clel when he was three months old. This contradicts paragraph 5 of the Findings, and is contrary to the evidence that Howard, Clel, and the Thordersons all lived together until September 1992, when Clel was nearly four years old, and that Howard cared for and helped support Clel during that time. (R. 857, 862, 1068.) There are other similar errors. These errors are generally not critical to Howard's argument and will not be addressed further.

³He had married again by the time of trial. (R. 633.)

Thorderson's encouragement, Howard then obtained employment and Mrs. Thorderson took over more of the care of Clel. (R. 1068-69.)

Howard notified Duncan, who was then living in Texas, of Clel's birth by letter dated January 17, 1989. (R. 595.) Howard then moved back to Utah. (R. 596.) He visited with Clel approximately every other Wednesday for several months (R. 1014), until he switched to a job with an irregular schedule. (R. 603, 618, 1015.) Visitation then became more sporadic because Duncan frequently would not give sufficient advance notice of his desire to visit, and Mrs. Thorderson and Clel would be unable or unwilling to accommodate Duncan's requests. (R. 1015-16.)

Thordersons and Howard moved to Pennsylvania in April 1992. Howard and Clel traveled to Utah twice during the summer of 1992 to allow Duncan to visit with Clel. (R. 622.) During the second visit, in September 1992, Howard decided to stay in Utah with Clel. (R. 623.) Duncan commenced having Clel overnight for visitation about once a week. (R. 625.) In November 1992, just before Thanksgiving, Mrs. Thorderson took Clel back to Pennsylvania for the holidays. (R. 626, 1043.) The plan at that time was that Howard come go to Pennsylvania for Christmas and take Clel back to Utah with her. (R. 1043-44.)

Thordersons noticed significant changes in Clel when he returned to Pennsylvania in November 1992 (R. 1011), and in January 1993 determined to seek custody themselves and did not let Clel return to Utah. (R. 1044.) Howard remained in Utah to gain some

independence to enable her to be a better parent (R. 1071), but telephoned and wrote Clel weekly, and visited him in Pennsylvania during May 1993 and January 1994 (R. 1072) and in Utah as described below. She moved back to Pennsylvania in June 1994 to be with Clel. (R. 1075.)

In February 1993, after learning that Clel would remain in Pennsylvania with Thordersons, Duncan sought visitation rights or temporary custody. (R. 53.) The court ultimately ordered that Clel travel to Utah and spend one month with Duncan and the following month with Howard. (R. 101-05, 153.) Clel returned to Pennsylvania following that visitation with severe disorders, including oppositional defiant disorder, separation anxiety disorder, and post-traumatic stress disorder. (R. 918.) He would go into rages upon very minor provocation, developed severe food phobias, and had an amazing loss of attention span. (R. 973.)

The court ordered an additional visitation in July 1994. (R. 300.) Clel's therapist in Pennsylvania spent two weeks of intensive therapy to prepare Clel for the visit (R. 1032), and the visitation was also monitored by a therapist in Utah. (R. 873.) The changes in Clel after that visit were not as severe as the prior year, but Clel did regress into staring into space, and started eating sand following that visit. (R. 974.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Eileen Howard dearly loves her son and seeks his best interests of her son, and believes that currently requires that Clel live with his maternal grandparents, Larry and Sandra Thorderson. Howard therefore supports the arguments made in Thordersons' brief in addition to those set forth below.

The trial court abused its discretion by not considering the best interests of the child, but instead applying a presumption in favor of a natural parent. That presumption does not apply to exclude a grandparent, particularly where the grandparent has essentially been the primary caretaker of the child since birth.

Rather than remand this case for reconsideration without applying the presumption, this Court should remand with instructions to award custody to the Thordersons. The overwhelming weight of the evidence compels such an award.

Alternatively, this Court should remand with instructions to consider an award of custody to Howard contingent on her living with Thordersons. The trial court refused to even consider such an arrangement, based on a mistaken assumption that it was beyond the court's power to enforce. Expert testimony showed that such an award would be in Clel's best interest if custody could not be granted directly to Thordersons. The refusal to consider a contingent award to Howard was an abuse of discretion.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

**THE HUTCHISON PRESUMPTION DOES NOT APPLY
AGAINST A GRANDPARENT WHO HAS BEEN
THE PRIMARY CARETAKER OF A CHILD SINCE BIRTH.**

Utah Code Ann. § 30-3-10(1) (1995) mandates that a trial court consider the best interest of a child in awarding custody. The findings in the instant case, however, do not even use the phrase "best interests." The trial court did not purport to find that a transfer of custody to Duncan was in Clel's best interest, but instead, citing Hutchison v. Hutchison, 649 P.2d 38 (Utah 1982), relied on a presumption in favor of natural parents.

Hutchison states:

In a controversy over custody, the paramount consideration is the best interest of the child, but where one party to the controversy is a nonparent, there is a presumption in favor of the natural parent. *Walton v. Coffman*, 110 Utah 1, 169 P.2d 97 (1946). This presumption recognizes "the natural right and authority of the parent to the child's custody" *State in re Jennings*, 20 Utah 2d 50, 52, 432 P.2d 879, 880 (1967). It is rooted in the common experience of mankind, which teaches that parent and child normally share a strong attachment or bond for each other, that a natural parent will normally sacrifice personal interest and welfare for the child's benefit, and that a natural parent is normally more sympathetic and understanding and better able to win the confidence and love of the child than anyone else. *Walton v. Coffman*, 110 Utah at 13, 169 P.2d at 103.

Hutchison, 649 P.2d at 40 (footnote omitted, underlining added).

Other decisions of the Utah Supreme Court, analyzed in Thordersons' brief at pages 52-55, clearly show that this presump-

tion does not apply against a grandparent, particularly one who has been the primary caretaker since the child's birth. The Court recognized that "[t]he affection of a grandparent can safely be said to be no less in depth than parental affection." Tuckey v. Tuckey, 649 P.2d 88, 90 (Utah 1982).

No expert witness at trial testified that, based on circumstances existing at the time of trial, the best interest of Clel would be served by transferring custody to Duncan. To the contrary, even Mr. Otanez, who advocated changing custody to Duncan, acknowledged he had concerns about the effect of such a change on Clel's stability. (R. 571.) Dr. Steven Richfield, who was familiar with Clel's current circumstances and emotional state, was more explicit. He testified that "it would be emotionally devastating to uproot him from the security that he has established in the home of the grandparents," and that it would likely "lead to antisocial behavior later in childhood and adulthood as well as [Clel] retreating into a shell of internal preoccupations." (R. 932. See also R. 956-60.)

Mr. Otanez was not sufficiently informed to testify concerning Clel's best interests at the time of trial. (R. 587.) Duncan himself was the only other witness who had some personal knowledge of both Thordersons and Howard and who testified that the best interests of Clel would be served by granting custody to Duncan. Given the self-serving nature of Duncan's testimony and the overwhelming testimony to the contrary, including the undisputed

evidence that Thordersons had been Clel's primary caretakers since birth, this Court should remand with directions to award custody to Husband.

A similar situation was addressed in Paryzek v. Paryzek, 776 P.2d 78 (Utah Ct. App. 1989). The parties' one child was about seven years old when the parties separated. The mother had been the primary caretaker prior to the separation, but the father was awarded temporary custody. The case was tried two years later. All the experts found both parties to be capable parents, but each party had an expert in his or her favor. The trial court gave little or no weight to the fact that the father had been custodian for the two years before trial, and awarded custody to the mother.

This Court on appeal reversed and directed that custody be awarded to the father (Vladimir):

Where the call is a close one, we believe the child's interests will best be promoted by maintaining the prior, stable and healthy arrangement. That is, where the evidence was otherwise inconclusive--if anything, favoring Vladimir somewhat--the paramount consideration of stability conclusively tips the scale in Vladimir's favor and warrants awarding custody to him, as a matter of law.

776 P.2d at 83-84.

The interests of stability in this case likewise demand that custody be awarded to Thordersons as a matter of law.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO CONSIDER ANY TYPE OF CUSTODY AWARD INVOLVING HOWARD.

The expert witnesses acknowledged Clel's love for his mother and her importance in his life, but expressed reservations about her current ability to have sole custody of Clel without assistance. Howard recognized that she needed help in parenting, and attempted to argue that she should be awarded custody contingent on her living with her mother, Sandra Thorderson. Even before hearing the evidence, the trial court refused to even hear arguments concerning such an arrangement. (R. 526-27.) At the conclusion of the evidence, in a conference in chambers, the court again refused to consider any custody award to Howard contingent on her living with Thordersons, claiming that the court lacked authority to enforce such an order.⁴

Although a trial court is given considerable discretion in awarding custody, that discretion must be exercised within the confines of legal standards. Schindler v. Schindler, 776 P.2d 84, 87 (Utah Ct. App. 1989). Where a court makes a discretionary ruling based on a misunderstanding of the law, "the party adversely affected thereby is entitled to have the error rectified and a

⁴While the conference in chambers is not reported, the record does reflect that the conference was held because the court did not want counsel presenting arguments concerning whether Howard should have custody (R. 1092), and that in chambers and following in open court the judge curtly refused to even allow arguments advocating any type of custody arrangement involving Howard. (R. 1101.)

proper adjudication under correct principles of law." Ferris v. Jennings, 595 P.2d 857, 859 (Utah 1979).

Several expert witnesses testified at trial. Todd Otanez, who performed his evaluation during the 1993 visit in Utah, was the only one who recommended that Duncan receive custody of Clel. Otanez compared only Duncan and Howard, and did not attempt to determine whether Clel's best interests would be served by remaining with Thordersons. (R. 533, 550.) Otanez acknowledged that his recommendation was based in part on the fact that Howard was not then living with Thordersons, who were Clel's primary caretakers and with whom Clel had a strong bond. (R. 582, 571, 576.) Otanez was not able to give an opinion concerning what would be in Clel's best interests based on the current circumstance of Howard living with Thordersons. (R. 587.)

Other expert testimony at trial showed that, if there was some legal reason that Thordersons could not be awarded custody, the best interests of Clel would be served by awarding custody to Howard contingent on her living with Thordersons. (R. 809-10.) All of the witnesses acknowledged that Thordersons had been Clel's primary caretaking essentially since his birth. No one questioned the Thordersons' ability to properly care for Clel.

The trial court clearly had the authority to make an award of custody contingent on Howard living in a particular location. Sukin v. Sukin, 842 P.2d 922, 925 (Utah Ct. App. 1992); Curry v. Curry, 7 Utah 2d 198, 321 P.2d 939, 943 (1958). The trial court

here abused its discretion by refusing to even consider such an arrangement. Sukin, supra. If this Court holds that the Hutchison presumption does apply to preclude a direct award of custody to Thordersons, the Court should remand with instructions to consider whether Clel's interests would best be served by an award of custody to Howard, contingent on her continuing to live with Thordersons.

CONCLUSION

The best interests of Clel would be served by awarding custody to the Thordersons. The evidence compels that conclusion, and this Court should remand with directions to award custody to Thordersons subject to reasonable visitation rights to Duncan.

Alternatively, this Court should remand for reconsideration without applying any presumption in favor of a natural parent, and should direct that the trial court consider an award to Howard contingent on her living with Thordersons. The witnesses uniformly acknowledged that transferring custody away from Thordersons would be traumatic. The trial court abused its discretion by refusing to even consider alternate methods to have Clel remain with Thordersons, who have been his primary caretakers since birth.