1996

Jerome K. Duncan v. Eileen M. Howard, Sandra Thorderson, and Larry Thorderson : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

A. Standard of Review:

The standard of review to be applied in custody cases is whether or not the trial court's holding was clearly erroneous. See *Kishpaugh v. Kishpaugh*, 745 P.2d 1248 (Utah 1987) citing *Lemon v. Coates*, 735 P.2d 58, 60 (Utah 1987) and *Ashton v. Ashton*, 733 P.2d 147, 149-50 & n.1 (Utah 1987). The weight that the trial court gives to the various factors set forth in *Hutchison* is to be reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. See *Hutchison v. Hutchison* at 41.

B. Discussion:

The case law in Utah developing the legal standards to be used in determining the custody of a child is rather extensive and has resulted in a body of law that gives trial courts relatively clear guidelines on making these weighty decisions. This Court and the Utah Supreme Court have also been willing to change the standards previously set forth in custody disputes in order to keep the best interest of the child in mind. For many years Utah law presumed that all other things being equal the mother was the preferred parent in custody

disputes. However in *Pusey v. Pusey*, 728 P.2d 117 (Utah 1986) the Utah Supreme Court determined that this presumption should no longer apply because in many cases "all things being equal" the father was still the most appropriate custodial parent. As our society has changed over the past decade we are now faced with situations where many children are not raised by two parent families and custody disputes more often are between not just parents but also extended family members or step-family. We are also unfortunately faced with the situation many times where children are born out of wedlock resulting in a situation where one of the natural parents may not be in the position to establish the type of early bond with the child that they would have otherwise. This is the situation that faces this Court in the case of Clel Howard.

As is stated above, Clel Howard was born in October of 1988 as the result of a relationship between his mother, Eileen Howard and his father, Jerry Duncan. Mr. Duncan was not aware of the pregnancy, or the birth until some three months after his son was born. As stated above, at this time he

immediately quit his job in Texas and returned to Utah so that he could begin to establish a relationship with his son. He paid child support and attempted to visit his young son as much as he possibly could given the circumstances between himself and the child's mother. He quickly discovered that not only did he have to deal with the child's mother but that he must also deal with the child's maternal grandmother and step-grandfather because this is where the child was spending most of his time. Even though it was difficult to arrange visitation, and the Thordersons would not allow overnight visitation, Mr. Duncan always continued to build and maintain a relationship with his son. After the Thordersons moved to Pennsylvania this became easier due to the fact that the child's mother allowed Mr. Duncan overnight and extended visitation.

It was not until the child moved to Pennsylvania permanently that Mr. Duncan began the process of trying to seek custody of his son. By this time Mr. Duncan had remarried and obtained steady employment. It became apparent at that

time that the only way he would be able to establish the type of relationship that he wanted with his son was by seeking full custody of him. It was this background that lead to the case at hand between Mr. Duncan, the Thordersons and Ms. Howard.

In *Hutchison v. Hutchison*, 649 P.2d 38 (Utah, 1982), the Utah Supreme Court set forth the standard to be used when making a custody determination between a parent and a nonparent.

In a controversy over custody, the paramount consideration is the best interest of the child but where one party to the controversy is a nonparent, there is a presumption in favor of the natural parent. *Walton v. Coffman*, 110 Utah 1, 169 P.2d 97 (1946). This presumption recognizes "the natural right and authority of the parent to the child's custody. . . ." *State in re Jennings*, 20 Utah 2d 50, 52, 432 P.2d 879, 880 (1967). It is rooted in the common experience of mankind, which teaches that parent and child normally share a strong attachment or bond for each other, that a natural parent will normally sacrifice personal interest and welfare for the child's benefit, and that a natural parent is normally more sympathetic and understanding and better able to win the confidence and love of the child than

anyone else. *Walton v. Coffman*, 110 Utah at 13, 169 P.2d at 103.

Id. at 40. Although the Utah Supreme Court was clear on the fact that residing with a natural parent should be presumed to be in the best interest of the child they did set forth that the presumption is not conclusive. It is accurate that there may be situations where a nonparent is the better custodian of the child, however, this presumption is not easily rebutted. The appellants in this case go to great length to argue that the Thordersons, or Eileen Howard and the Thordersons combined are the better parents in this case because they are the ones that have had this child for a significant portion of his life. They argue that the appellants have a deeper love for this child than the father, that they are more sensitive to his needs and that they are in a better position financially to provide for this child. The *Hutchison* Court makes it clear that this is not enough to overcome the presumption in favor of the natural parent.

The parental presumption is not conclusive,
. . . but it cannot be rebutted merely by
demonstrating that the opposing party

possesses superior qualifications, has established a deeper bond with the child, or is able to provide more desirable circumstances. If the presumption could be rebutted merely by evidence that a nonparent would be a superior custodian, the parent's natural right to custody could be rendered illusory and with it the child's natural right to be reared, where possible, by his or her natural parent.

Id. at 41.

This is a particularly important consideration in cases like the one at hand where the natural parent has been deprived of the ability to rear his child through no fault of his own. When a child is born out of wedlock it is typical that the child not live with the natural father during his or her early years. In this case Mr. Duncan quit his job in Texas immediately upon learning of the birth of his son and moved to Utah so that he could establish a relationship with the child. The fact that the natural mother in this case chose to abandon the child leaving him primarily in the care of his grandparents plays no part in rebutting the presumption that rightfully belongs to Mr. Duncan.

In order for a nonparent to rebut the presumption they must rebut three characteristics set forth by the court. Only when the non-parent demonstrates by evidence that the natural parent lacks all three of these characteristics will the presumption be rebutted and then the "contestants for custody compete on equal footing, and the custody award should be determined solely by reference to the best interest of the child." *Id.* at 41. The three characteristics which must be demonstrated by the nonparent in order to rebut the presumption are that 1) no strong mutual bond exists between the child and the natural parent, 2) the natural parent has not demonstrated a willingness to sacrifice his or her own interest and welfare for the child's, and 3) that the natural parent lacks the sympathy for and understanding of the child that is characteristic of parents generally. The appellants in this matter did not demonstrate by evidence that the plaintiff/appellee lacked these three characteristics and therefore the trial court was proper in its ruling that the

best interest of the child in this case was served by awarding custody to Mr. Duncan, the child's natural father.

A. The Appellants Did Not Demonstrate That A Bond Does Not Exist Between the Child And His Natural Father.

Mr. Duncan did in fact establish a bond with his son in spite of the obstacles that he was faced with. During the trial there was testimony from numerous witnesses who were able to speak about the relationship between Mr. Duncan and Clel. Kenneth Duncan, Mr. Duncan's brother testified about interactions he had observed between the appellee and his son. He testified that Mr. Duncan had brought Clel to many family activities and that their interactions were very typical of any father and son. (Trial Transcript at 171). He testified that Mr. Duncan and Clel would ride bikes together and that Mr. Duncan was exceptionally loving and tender towards his son. *See id.* He further testified that when Clel was not with his father that Mr. Duncan would speak of him often and show pictures to the family. *See id.* at 172. He testified that Clel always seemed to be having fun when he was around the family

and in fact it was almost surprising that the situation appeared so normal and that Clel was so close and loving with the extended family given his limited opportunities to spend time with them. *See id.* at 173-74.

The trial court also heard testimony from Peggy Duncan, Mr. Duncan's sister-in-law who testified that Mr. Duncan had brought Clel to visit almost every time he had him in his custody. She testified that Clel was shy when he was little and that his father would stay right with him and get down on the floor and play with him and was always very excited to have Clel with him. She further testified that Clel appeared just as excited to be with his father. *See id.* at 182. She also testified that she thought it was amazing that Clel appeared so comfortable around his father given the fact that they were not able to see each other very often. *See id.* at 183.

Mr. Duncan's brother Stuart Duncan also testified at trial regarding the relationship between the plaintiff and his son. He testified that Mr. Duncan was a very good father,

always very concerned about his son. He further testified that the relationship between Clel and his father appeared to be quite normal and that Clel would always go to his father first if he needed something. He testified that Mr. Duncan was good at disciplining Clel and that when Clel was not with him he spoke of him all the time. *See id.* at 320.

The appellants point out that the experts in this case testified that there was a stronger bond between the child and the Thordersons than between the child and his father. Given the fact that this child had spent most of his life in the home of the Thordersons it would make sense that his primary bond would exist with them. However, the fact that they may have a stronger bond with the child does not rebut the question of whether or not the father also has a bond with the child. Mr. Otanez testified that Mr. Duncan did in fact have a bond with his child. *See id.* at 27. Mr. Otanez did point out that Mr. Duncan had not had the opportunity to establish the type of bond with his son that one might normally expect but that it was clear he wanted custody of his son for "no other

reason except that he has that desire, that responsibility in his mind to protect and care and love his son." *Id.* Mr. Otanez further testified that it appeared to him that Clel made negative comments about his father because he knew that he was not supposed to have a good time when he was with his father. *Id.* at 26. However, when Clel didn't know he was being watched he would laugh and play with his father in a normal manner. *Id.*

The appellants Thordersons point out testimony of Steven Richfield and Bryne Rivlin. Ms. Rivlin testified that the appellants were distrustful of Mr. Duncan. She further testified however, that Mr. Duncan was very appreciative of the Thordersons taking care of his son and felt that they were good people. She testified that Mr. Duncan had attempted to maintain contact with his son while Clel was in Pennsylvania but felt that the Thordersons had thwarted that effort. *See id.* at 231. Ms. Rivlin also testified that Mr. Duncan told her that Clel behaved differently when the Thordersons were not there and that he was afraid to show love to his father in

front of the Thordersons. See *id.* at 233. Although Dr. Richfield testified that the child's psychological bond was with the Thordersons he also testified that Mr. Duncan was establishing a bond with his son. See *id.* at 417.

Based upon the testimony the trial court found that although the child's strongest bond was with the Thordersons, that Mr. Duncan's bonding with the child had been hampered because he had not had the opportunities to establish a bond in the way that the Thordersons had. The court found that Mr. Duncan had met with much resistance in establishing a close relationship with his son and that all of the evidence in the case established that a bond did exist between father and son and led the court to believe that a strong bond could and would be established if the opportunity was available. Based upon the court's findings regarding this issue it is clear that the court considered the testimony and found that the appellants did not demonstrate the first characteristic necessary to rebut the presumption set forth in *Hutchison*.

B. The Appellants Did Not Demonstrate That Mr. Duncan Was Not Willing To Sacrifice His Own Interest And Welfare For That Of The Child.

It is clear from the evidence presented at trial that Mr. Duncan has and continues to sacrifice his own interests and welfare for that of his child. Mr. Duncan began sacrificing for his child immediately upon learning of his birth by quitting his job and moving to Utah in order that he could be close to the child. Further, upon learning of the birth of his child he sent a check to Ms. Howard and has continued to pay support on behalf of this child even though there has never been a court order in place directing him to do so. (Trial Transcript at 82). Upon returning to Utah, even though Mr. Duncan was faced with obstacles in establishing a relationship with his son he continued to have as much contact with the child as possible. By reviewing the testimony it becomes apparent that there has never been a period in this child's life when his father did not continue to try and build a relationship with him. Even when the child was moved to Pennsylvania, Mr. Duncan paid for the child and his mother to

return to Utah for visits and even drove to Pennsylvania on one occasion to pick the child up and drive him back to Utah for visitation. *See id.* at 108-120.

Mr. Duncan voluntarily registered his paternity with the state and underwent blood tests when Ms. Howard refused to recognize him as the father. *See id.* at 107. Mr. Duncan has hired numerous therapists to try and help him deal with the problems of his son both before and after the transfer of custody. No one in this case testified that Mr. Duncan's motives in seeking custody of his son were anything but pure. The simple fact that Mr. Duncan has gone to the time and expense of a trial and now an appeal in this matter demonstrates that he is willing to sacrifice for the interest of his son. Further, Mr. Duncan testified at trial that if he were awarded custody of his son he and his current wife would change their job schedules so someone could be home with Clel at all times even though this would mean spending much less time with each other. *See id.* at 128-130.

The evidence presented at trial was overwhelming that Mr. Duncan has in fact sacrificed his interests and welfare for his son. The only testimony to the contrary was from the Thordersons and Eileen Howard. The trial court, who is in the best position to weigh the credibility of the witnesses found that Mr. Duncan had "demonstrated a willingness to sacrifice his own interest and welfare for the child's." The court further found that "[i]t is evident that plaintiff cared about Clel and is willing to sacrifice his own interests for the child's, however, the defendants were not cooperative and did not further a father/son relationship between Clel and plaintiff." (Memorandum Decision at 5).

C. The Appellants Did Not Demonstrate That Mr. Duncan Lacks Sympathy For And Understanding Of His Son.

The third characteristic set forth in *Hutchison* is that the nonparent must demonstrate that the natural parent lacks sympathy and understanding for the minor child. The appellants in this matter did not meet this requirement in order to rebut the presumption that the best interest of the child is in

being with his natural parent. The appellants argue that Mr. Duncan does not have an understanding of Clel's unique emotional and psychological problems and that a change in custody will damage this child forever. The evidence presented at trial showed that Mr. Duncan does in fact have an understanding of his child's unique situation and the trial court found as such.

Mr. Duncan has put much time in effort into dealing with the problems faced by his son. He has always been willing to consult with therapists chosen by the appellants and has further consulted numerous therapists on his own. The testimony at trial did not show anything different. The only comment about Mr. Duncan's lack of cooperation came from Mr. Stewart Smith who testified that the plaintiff had said he did not want to take a lengthy personality test although he did consent to a shorter version of the test. (See Trial Transcript at 368). It is important to note that Mr. Smith spent a limited amount of time in this case only seeing the participants for a total of nine hours. Even with this limited

contact however he did testify that the interactions between father and son were good although awkward because they all took place in his office. *See id.* at 360, 362-63).

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